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Hot Springs is a community of over four thousand people in north cen-
tral Fall River County. Scattered out along the Fall River Canyon, sur-
rounded by sandstone cliffs and evergreen forests, it is one of the most
picturesque towns in South Dakota. Its affinity to the landscape is easily
discovered in a row of sandstone storefronts along the River Street--Hot
Springs' principal commercial avenue. These buildings form the core of the
district. Generally, they are two-story commercial structures of romanesque
design built between 1390 and 1915. Their conditions vary from fair to
good. A1l appear functional; in fact, most are in use today.

Generally, the stone buildings are romanesque in feeling, but are
obviously adapted to the commercial needs of the time. The majority are
two-storied and employ Roman arches or roundheaded windows. Stones are
rough-finished and always coursed on the front facade. First floors may
have cast iron or steel I-beam lintels for large display windows, but trance
on the facade corner are common and usually set out in a decorated pavilon
containing an arched doorway. Capitals, finials, and cornerstonas appear
Treguently and are always hand carved.

Attempts to copy Henry Hobson Richardson's designs are seen in many
stepped gables and flat lintels; but on the whole, architectural styling
is more traditional, more in the tone of a romanesque revival. The dis-
trict's consistency is probably due to the fact that most of the buildings
were designed by the stonecutters themselves, rather than by professional
architects. They tended to be conservative and utilitarian and grew more
so as the town aged.

The majority of sandstone buildings stand on the eastern edge of River
Street and run for eight blocks between Main Street and Jennings Avenue.
From the north, it begins quietly enough with the Gibson Hotel and builds
to more interesting facades until the Century House looms up to substanti-
ate the district's uniqueness. Beyond the Hotel, the street becomes more
varied and interesting. Heights change, materials alternate from rough
stone to smooth blocks to stamped metal. Here are some of the more decor-
ative facades enhanced by intriquing alleyways stretching to the sandstone
hi1l behind the stores. There are a few aluminum fronts covering the
original materials} but for the most part, River Street is historically
honest.

Two major intrusions exist in this section. A service station north
of the Hotel and a series of brick-veneer and metal-paneled facades to the
south break up the streetscape rhythm. They do not, however, completely
destroy its atmosphere. The southern extremity is the weak point of River
Street. An art-deco storefront, parking lot, and modern Tiquor store
severely detract from the district's mood.

Along the west edge of River Street is the Fall River which has a Tow
cement retaining wall built during the early 1950s as a flood control meas-
ure. The stream is an attractive feature then to fifteen yards wide and
flowing freely in a bed covered with cattails, moss, rocks and grass.
Flanking the river is a Tevel flood plain extending three blocks to the
north from the Jennings Street Bridge to a sandstone cliff. The flood

plain appears again running for one block north of Minnekahta Avenue.
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Here a modern motel, church and funeral home stand as intrusions; but a row
of young trees partially screens them.

Above the western flood plain rises a sandstone bluff covered with ever-
greens and other vegetation. On its summit stand several Victorian homes
scattered out from north to south and forming the western horizon from any
perspective on River Street. Among them are the Fred T. Evans home, the
Sioux City Gambling Club, Tipperary and the 01d Hargen's Sanatorium. Also
visible are the crenelated walls of the Lutheran Nursing Home.

At the extreme northern end of River Street stands the Braun Hotel which,
because of a turn in Highway 385, forms the street's visual terminus from
the district's center. Next to the Braun is the County Courthouse built in
1890. The courthouse anchors the district's northern boundary along with the
city auditorium, the only remaining monumental bath house of the period. To
the east of this section, lies an area developed during the 1930s and 1940s.
Two service stations and an open Tot mar the courthouse's integrity.

The district begins at the northern end of River Street and extends to
Jennings. Here, a single block runs east to connect River Street and Chicago
Avenue. This area is locally known as the "Midway" and consists of small
commercial shops and offices of more recent design--but still employing the
sandstone which is the district's primary media. Taken as a single entity,
the Midway is at best a "C" or neutral area. Three intrusions--a liquor
store, modern bank, and a 1930s auto garage--bracket the street on three
corners. Further to the east, a large supermarket is plainly visible. bal-
ancing these intrusive effects are the post office, which firmly binds
Jennings and Chicago Streets together; and the public Tlibrary whose tree-
covered grounds subdue the bleak parking lot across the street. Approaching
River Street from the west on the Midway is the Jennings Street Bridge. An
old bath house, now a paint shop, stands across the Fall River, along with
more recent lumberyard buildings (although a lumberyard stood here at the
turn of the century). Simply removing modern graphics would enhance the
appearance of this important section.

Turning south onto Chicago Avenue presents the viewer with a variety of
buildings, old and new. Behind false fronts and aluminum and plastic signs
stand many of the original structures that made up "Lower Town." Conceived
as Hot Springs' business district and separated from the tourist-oriented
enterprises on River Street, Lower Town experienced a longer commercial life
than its rival.

Change was the consequence of Lower Town's more energetic existence.
Exterior alterations, the erection of new buildings, and the destruction of
old businasses altered the appearance of Chicago Street. Yet here stand two
of the community's oldest buildings, the Petty Block and the Shann Building.
Also visible on a hill north of Chicago Avenue is the schoolhouse, a promi-
nent feature in the district.

On the opposite end of the block where the Petty Building stands are
three buildings scheduled for demolition. In their place a local bank is
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proposing to construct a new building utilizing the sandstone blocks of
those structuras destroyed in order to protect the integrity of the district.

DESCRIPTION OF PRINCIPAL BUILDINGS

The Evans Hotel, River Street. The most important building on River
Street is the Evans Hotel, now the Century House. Built in 1892, its design
was purportedly an imitation of the King David Hotel in Jerusalem. It was
the creation of Hot Sprinas' biggest promoter, Fred T. Evans. Five stories
high and containing 250 rooms, the Evans Hotel was complete with electric
1ights and elevator when it opened two years after its wooden predecessor
burned to the ground. The crenellated towers and semi-circular arches suggest
a romanesque origin, but a Victorian influence is evident in the Classic
veranda and wrought-iron balconies, both prominent features. The Hotel
stands at the foot of Minnekahta Avenue at the curve in River Street. It
must be considered the primary focal point of the Hot Springs District.

The Minnekahta Block. The Minnekahta Block, immediately north of the
Century House, began as one of Fred Evans' enterprises, but was finished by
another Hot Springs businessman. A romanesque commercial building much in the
spirit of its larger neighbor, the Minnekahta Block is three stories high
with flat-linteled windows on all but the third floor. Centered by a Pallad-
ian opening, the structure's upper floor is decorated with a dentilated
cornice and small sandstone balustrade. Spherical projections top corners
and towers on the building's southern facade. On the northwest pavilion are
two double-pitched decorative projections contributing to the structure's
picturesque character. It is constructed totally of local sandstone. The
present owner has filled in windows and added a large sign which distracts
from its integrity.

The Petty Building, Chicago Avenue. One of the oldest sandstone commer-
cial buildings in the district stands at its southeastern edge. The Petty
Building, first built in 1839, burned and was reconstructed four years later.
Joseph Petty must have been proud of its columned arches, handsome cornice
and carvings. Certainly the bust above the door with its spray of acanthus
leaves was the finest and most unusual of the city's decorations.

The Shann Building, Chicago Avenue. Across the street from the Petty
Building in what is now the Wagon Wheel Lounge, is the oldest sandstone
store in Hot Springs. Completed in August of 1390, it served as a butcher
shop for a number of years. Today a coat of stucco mars the first floor, but
above it a roundheaded triumvirate of windows and their hand-carved spring
lines remain untouched.

Union Depot, River Street. The Union Depot, one of two in the original
district and the only depot Teft standing is located at the upper end of
River Street. It measures roughly fifty feet by twenty feet. Because the
depot is the only building on the west side of the highway, it adds a special
atmosphere of massiveness to nearby sandstone structures which is missed in
more open areas. Essentially of single-story construction but boasting a
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DESCRIPTION--4

central tower, the depot is typical of romanesque railroad buildings. It,
too, was contracted by Fred T. Evans in 1891.

Fall River County Courthouse, River Street. Built in 1891 following the
separation of Custer County into two political subdivisions, the three-and-
one-half-story sandstone structure of romanesque design, the courthouse still
serves as a county office building. The arched main entrance is centered in
a rectanqular pavilion rising to a square tower above the roof. The tower,
once topped by a peaked wooden crown displays four Roman arches complete with
columns as window surrounds. A large dentilated cornice circles the building.
Corner towers and central pavilions employing stepped gabled and windows with
flat lintels suggest an attempt to design the building in the Richardsonian
tradition. Alterations include the removal of the Tower roof mentioned above
and the filling in of many windows. Also, half of the front steps were
removed.

Battle Mountain Sanatorium. Healing waters and mild climate attracted
more than tourists to Hot Springs. In 1902, Congress approved the construc-
tion of a Veteran's Home on Battle Mountain above North River Street. Com-
pleted in 1907, the Sanatorium became the town's most impressive architectural
showpiece. The main building 1is wheel-shaped, its spokes connected by an
enclosed ambulatory 780 feet in diameter. The main building is four stories
high and topped by a dome reminiscent of Byzantine cathedrals. This influ-
ence is also apparent in the building's cross-shaped plan, tiled roof and
the vertical effect of the two towers bracketing the central dome. Above the
iron work inside the sanatorium's carved wooden doors, A smaller copy of the
main section stands at the opposite end of the complex.

Six three-storied extensions radiate out from the central court. Each
has a porch on the west side to catch the afternoon sun. Wooden members are
prominent features. Sun porches and the tile roofs are supported by large,
unadorned wooden beams. Rafters are exposed wherever possible. Openings are
either roundheaded or flat with the latter predominant. Twin arches encase
a pair of windows on the villa-like towers at the front facade. An anterior
arcade on the main section and the circular ambulatory employ round arches.
Sandstone, rough cut and regularly coursed, is the principal building mater-
ial. Its rich texture is a pleasant contrast to the plain, institutional
interior.

The grounds include a number of sandstone buildings including the hos-
pital southeast of the main complex. A large, three-story Elizabethan struc-
ture, the hospital has several additions, but none detract significantly from
the district's late Victorian character. The same holds true for other small-
er buildings near the sanatorium. To the south are several dormitories for
the staff. These are large, two-story frame buildings designed in keeping
with Mediterranean flavor of the sanatorium itself. Here again, timbers are
exposed and unadorned and plans are simple rectangles or squares. All of
these homes have hipped roofs. Only the superintendent's residence deviates
from the norm with its half-timbered central gable and Classic porch.
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© Marlou Building, River Street. A two-story, sandstone, romanesque
commercial building bearing segments of the builders' names (Hargens and
Loudenbak) on a central plaque. Pointed dentils in the cornice, large key-
stones and a checkerboarded string course are its examples of the stonemason's
craft. It was constructed in 1893,

Wesleyan Lakota Chapel (Morris Grand Theatre). One of the few Classic
buildings in the district, the chapel is a smooth sandstone block structure
consisting of a large central arch below a huge cornice. Pilasters provided
balance to the corners while a carved medallion sets off the roof line. The
Morris Grand opened in 1911.

Hot Springs Public School, Chicago Avenue. Standing atop the southern
edge of Battle Mountain, the schoolThouse commands the entire district and is
visible from nearly all of it. A large Richardsonian romanesque building of
local sandstone, the old schoolhouse now serves as the Fall River County His-
torical Museum. It is three stories high, perfectly square and balanced on
two sides by central pavilions. East and west entrances are set in large
narrow porticoes and surrounded by Roman arches and twin engaged columns,
Stepped gables, one above the entrances and two on the north and south facades
have two similar gables on a small scale. All are decorated with carved,
acorn-shaped finials. A large single chimney rises above the building's
northern half. Decorations include carved oak leaves on spring line mouldings,
on newel posts and at the apex of the large gables. The plain cornice rests
on a checkerboarded string course. Windows are generally flat-linteled and
set in a series of three. This theme is repeated in the arched windows of
the large gables.

City Hall, River Street. Built of native sandstone in 1893, the City
Hall has a large dentiTated cornice topped by decorative finials joined by a
stone transom. The five second-story windows are roundheaded and paired on
each half of the front facade. The remaining window is larger and centered
above the opening. Each window has a large, wedge-shaped keystone. A drip
moulding connects the second story openings while those on the ground floor
are either connected or stand singly. To the left is a large, arched opening
originally built to accommodate a fire team, but altered for modern trucks in
the 1230s. The doorway is also roundheaded and framed by pilasters and a
molded entablature. The pilasters extend to the roof, but between the central
window and the entablature is a checker-work rectangle.

The Evans House, Summit Road. A large rambling Queen Anne with a round,
conical-roofed towar, the Evans house was probably built in the 1890s. Its
Classical porch uses "cushion" capitals and round columns. The house is now
stuccoed, but it is unknown whether or not this material is original.

Hargen's Sanatorium, Almond Street. This building is a large, two story
frame structure with a third story within the confines of a mansard roof.
Four dormer windows with medium-peaked roofs appear on each side. Around the
south side is a porch and balcony with simply-moulded Victorian porch posts.
A smaller structure attached to the rear is essentially a cube with a hipped
roof. The sanatorium was built in 1999.
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The Sioux City Club, Almond Street. Fred Evans built this unusual wood-
en frame structure to accommodate his friends from Sioux City who came to
visit. It operated for several years as a gambling casino. MNow it serves
as a private residence. The club is rectangular in plan and one and one-half
stories high. Porches flank the long sides. A pedimented portico introduces
the front entrance. The most unusual feature is a large octagonal tower ris-
ing out of the center of the roof. Half a story high without its peaked roof,
the tower provided an excellent view of the city during a moment away from
the tables.

Villa Theresa. This Spanish ravival home was built by a wealthy French-
man for his wife in 1916. Its towers and stuccoed walls are visible from
much of Rijver Street.

Tipperary, 245 Dakota Street. This story and one-half house with its
picturesque veranda, square center cupola and high octagonal tower provides
an excellent visual terminus for the southern extremity of the district.

JTHER SIGNIFICANT BUILDINGS

1lilson House, !lorth 17th Street. A large Queen Anne with eclectic
"bell tower," built in 1897.

Bentley House, University Avenue. A two-story wooden house of the 1900
period with Jerkenshead roof and Victorian porch. /An identical house is
immediately to the west.

Eastman House, 802 Elm Street. A two-story period house surrounded by
a southern-style, two-story porch on three sides.

St. Luke's Church, Minnekahta Avenue. Built in 1992 of native sandstone;
small Gothic structure with beautiful interior, stained-glass windows.

Praesbyterian Church, Happy Hollow. A small sandstone Gothic built in
1890; now a private residence.

I00F Building, Chicago Avenue. Built in 1895, it has a brick facade
and decorative terra cotta cornice.

Medical Block, River Street. A single-story sandstone building built
in 1912.

Central Block, River Street. A single-story sandstone commercial build-
ing with corner entrance; built in 1905.

Braun Hotel, River Street. A two-story sandstone building with a man-
sard roof; built in 1912.

“Taxi" Building, River Street. A period commercial building built to
accommodate a jog in the street.

Evans Hotel Annex. A three-story sandstone hotel attached to the Cen-
tury House; built in 1893.

City Auditorium, River Street. The only surviving large bath house
(Mammouth PTunge); built in 1907T.
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There are thirty buildings of high quality or exceptional significance
in the District, seventy structures that are of the historic period and con-
tribute to the District's atmosphere and thirty buildings that are neutral to
In addition, thirty-three structures lie within the District
that mildly distract from its desired mood and twenty-four areas that are
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Hot Springs Historic District represents a Black Hills health spa
around 1900. The principal features of the District are a number of roman-
esque commercial buildings constructed of local sandstone designed by both
professional architects and the stonecutters themselves.

Originally called Minnekahta, the town began when a few squatters set-
tled near the springs in 1879. The earliest residents were members of the
last and most permanent wave of Black Hills immigrants--the farmers and
ranchers. Occupation of the Hills area began in 1876 when the Sioux Nation
ceded the Black Hills to the U.S. Government. Hordes of miners, traders,
businessmen, and gamblers came to the Black Hills to make their fortune.
Because most of the activity centered around Deadwood and Lead in the north+
ern Black Hills, development occurred more slowly to the south. By 1884,
only thirteen buildings existed in Hot Springs. A year later, however,
the railroad came to nearby Buffalo Gap and the river town began to grow.

People began considering the town's potential and some saw the glint
of gold in its mineral water. Among them were the members of the Dakota
Hot Springs Company. These men were determined to develop the sleepy cow-
town into the biggest health resort west of the Mississippi. Dr. R. D.
Jennings, Mr. E. D. Dudley, A. S. Stewart, and Fred T. Evans were experi-
enced and ambitious entrepreneuers who planned the town's development care-
fully. They separated Hot Springs into two sections, upper and lower town.
Upper town was reserved exclusively for the tourists, while Tower town was
to carry on local commercial business. Although there existed a tradition-
al commercial separation because of geographical reasons, this was the
first official recognition of the fact and it led to a Tong standing feud
between the areas.

lith the coming of the railroad in 1891, the northern section became
the center of a thriving health spa industry. Large hotels and bath houses
dotted the canyon, most of them built over mineral springs. The springs
were guaranteed to cure every ailment from rheumatism to gout. The pic-
turesque scenery allowed families to combine cures and vacations. Besides
soaking in the baths, one could picnic in the nearby hills, go on tours to
nearby Cascade Springs or take the stage to Wind Cave twelve miles to the
north. By 1904, the town was the playground of the Black Hills.

"Hot Springs is the Carlsbad of South Dakota and the prin-
cipal business of its inhabitants is to cater to the wants of
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the tourists in search of health or pleasure. The famous hot
snrinas and mineral waters are found here and baths and sanitor-
iums of all kinds have been built for the accommodation of the
public. Hotels in the town are numerous, among which the Evans
has become the best known, and during the tourist season the town
is gay with a stream of people coming and going, who have left
their dignity and formalities behind them when they left their
homes. Here are to be seen the old and the young, athlete and
invalid, the staid old fathers and mothers, the grass widows and
gay young beaus, all having a good time." (Peterson, Historical
Atlas of South Dakota, 134.)

There were less frivolous reasons for visiting Hot Springs. They are
manifested in a number of hospitals and sanatoriums skirting the canyon wall.
Among them was Or. Nickol's cancer sanatorium (now the Lutheran Home), the
Hargen Sanatorium, a state soldier's home and, in 1907, a national veteran's
sanatorium. Hot Springs was also a divorce center. The liberal statutes and
residence requirements simplified the process and hundreds came to take ad-
vantage of then.

By the end of the next decade, the streams of people belonged to Hot
Springs' history. A more scientific medical profession no longer recommended
mineral baths to their patients. Involvement in the ®*war to end all wars"
left Tittle time for frivolity and state law prohibited "quicky" divorces.
The big hotels closed or eventually burned and were never rebuilt. The town
adopted a more humble role as trade center for surrounding ranches and farms.

But the heritage of a alamorous past remains in the rough-hewn blocks of
sandstone buildings stretching along the Fall River Valley. Between 1890 and
1915, over eighty percent of the River Street and Chicago Avenue buildings
were erected. This period also saw construction completed on the State Sol-
dier's Home and Battle Mountain Sanatorium.

Foremost among early Hot Springs contractors was Fred T. Evans. Entre-
preneur, freighter, and talented dreamer, Evans built the most grandiose and
apparently successful of the town's commercial structures. He came to the
Black Hills from Sioux City to make a fortune freighting supplies and equip-
ment to miners in the northern Black Hills. When the railroads came and busi-
ness waned, Evans took his capital to Hot Springs where he is credited with
"discovering” the use of local sandstone for building material. This theory
is in doubt, however, since the Petty Brothers built a sandstone commercial
building on Chicago Avenue in 1889, followed a year later by a butcher named
Shann who opened a shop in a sandstone store across the street.

If not the first, Evans was certainly the most imaginative and prolific
of the early builders. The large Century House Hotel (originally the Evans),
the Minnekahta Block and Union Depot were Evans projects. So was the water-
powerad light plant on River Street built in the '90s. Reflected in these
buildings are Evans' knowledge of the world, his appreciation of variety,
artistry and confidence in the future.
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Note to the record

74001890 - Hot Springs Historic District

Additional Documentation for this property is included in the
Hot Springs Historic District (Boundary Decrease)

ref# 100002634
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Correspondence

The Correspondence consists of communications from (and possibly to) the nominating authority, notes
from the staff of the National Register of Historic Places, and/or other material the National Register of
Historic Places received associated with the property.

Correspondence may also include information from other sources, drafts of the nomination, letters of
support or objection, memorandums, and ephemera which document the efforts to recognize the
property.
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (if known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Hot Springs is a community of over four thousand people in north
central Fall River County. Scattered out along the Fall River Can-
yon, surrounded by sandstone cliffs and evergreen forests, it is one
of the most picturesque towns in South Dakota. Its affinity to the
landscape is easily discovered in a row of sandstone storefronts a-
long the River Street--Hot Springs' principal commercial avenue. These
buildings form the core of the district. Generally, they are two-story
commercial structures of romanesque design built between 1890 and 1915.
Their conditions vary from fair to good. Al1 appear functional, in
fact, most are in use today.

Generally, the stone buildings are romanesque in feeling, but are
obviously adapted to the commercial needs of the time. The majority
are two-storied and employ Roman arches or roundheaded windows. Stones
are rough-finished and always coursed on the front fagade. First floors
may have cast iron or steel I-beam lintels for large display windows, but
masonry and wooden beams provide the main structure support. Front en-
trances on the fagade corner are common and usually set out in a decor-
ated pavilon containing an arched doorway. Capitals, finials and cor-
nerstones appear frequently and are always hand carved.

Attempts to copy Henry Hobson Richardson's designs are seen in many
stepped gables and flat lintels; but on the whole, architectural styling
is more traditional, more in the tone of a romanesque revival. The dis-
trict's consistency is probably due to the fact that most of the build-
ings were designed by the stonecutters themselves, rather than by pro-
fessional architects. They tended to be conservative and utilitarian
and grew more so as the town aged.

The majority of sandstone buildings stand on the eastern edge of
River Street and run for eight blocks between Main Street and Jennings
Avenue. From the north, it begins quietly enough with the Gibson Hotel
and builds to more interesting fagades until the Century House looms up
to substantiate the district's uniqueness. Beyond the Hotel, the street
becomes more varied and interesting. Heights change, materials alternate
from rough stone to smooth blocks to stamped metal. Here are some of the
more decorative fagades enhanced by intriguing alleyways stretching to
the sandstone hill behind the stores. There are a few aluminum fronts
covering the original materials, but for the most part, River Street is
historically honest.

Two major intrusions exist in this section. A service station north
of the Hotel and a series of brick-veneer and metal-paneled fagades to
the south break up the streetscape rhythm. They do not, however, com-
pletely destroy its atmosphere. The southern extremity is the weak
point of River Street. An art-deco storefront, parking lot, and modern
liquor store severely detract from the district's mood.

33

SNOILODONALSNI




Foow 10,3000 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR [s7are
oty 1989) NATIONAL PARK SERVICE SOUTH DAKOTA |
VL b, 2V 1 2
/*”rjﬁfﬁ ~ NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES |“°oW™
 FERSgHIVEL ‘ LAWRENCE = ol
ﬂ; . Y o ~ INVENTORY - NOMINATION FORM e ]
: | B f_;'uv NUMBER OA TE
k=4 N A= =a) (Continuation Sheet) r—" —= e =

\ | (vumber all entries) Description - 2

o

Along the west edge of River Street is the Fall River which has a low
cement retaining wall built during the early 1950s as a flood control
measure. The stream is an attractive feature then to fifteen yards wide
and flowing freely in a bed covered with cattails, moss, rocks and grass.
Flanking the river is a level flood plain extending three blocks to the
north from the Jennings Street Bridge to a sandstone cliff. The flood
plain appears again running for a block on Minnekahta Avenue. Here a
modern motel, church and funeral home stand as intrusions, but a row of
young trees partially screens them.

l
r
l
1

Above the western flood plain rises a sandstone bluff covered with
evergreens and other vegetation. On its summit stand several Victori-
an homes scattered out from north to south and forming the western hori-
zon from any perspective on River Street. Among them are the Fred T.
Evans home, the Sioux City Gambling Club, Tipperary and the 01d Har-
gen's Sanatorium. Also visible are the crenelated walls of the Luth-
eran Nursing Home.

At the extreme northern end of River Street stands the Braun Hotel
which, because of a turn in Highway 385, forms the street's visual ter-
minus from the district's center. Next to the Braun is the County
Courthouse built in 1890, The courthouse anchors the district's
northern boundary along with the city auditorium, the only remaining
monumental bath house of the period. To the east of this section,
lies an area developed during the 1930s and 1940s. Two service
stations and an open lot mar the courthouse's integrity.

The district begins at the northern end of River Street and extends
to Jennings. Here, a single block runs east to connect River Street
and Chicago Avenue. This area is locally known as the "Midway" and
consists of small commercial shops and offices of more recent design--
but still employing the sandstone which is the district's primary
media. Taken as a single entity, the Midway is at best a "C" or neu-
tral area. Three intrusions--a liquor store, modern bank and a 1930s
auto garage--bracket the street on three corners. Further to the
east, a large supermarket is plainly visible. Balancing these intru-
sive effects are the post office, which firmly binds Jennings and Chi-
cago Streets together, and the public Tibrary whose tree-covered grounds
subdue the bleak parking lot across the street. Approaching River
Street from the west on the Midway is the Jennings Street Bridge. An
old bath house, now a paint shop, stands across the Fall River, along
with more recent lumberyard buildings (although a Tumberyard stood here at
the turn of the century). Simply removing modern graphics would enhance
the appearance of this important section.
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Turning south onto Chicago Avenue presents the viewer with a variety
of buildings, old and new. Behind false fronts and aluminum and plas-
tic signs stand many of the original structures that made up "Lower
Town." Conceived as Hot Springs' business district and separated from
the tourist-oriented enterprises on River Street, Lower Town exper-
ienced a longer commercial Tife than its rival.

Change was the consequence of Lower Town's more energetic existence.
Exterior alterations, ‘the erection of new buildings, and the destruc-
tion of old businesses altered the appearance of Chicago Street. Yet
here stand two of the community's oldest buildings, the Petty Block
and the Shann Building. Also visible on a hill north of Chicago Ave-
nue is the schoolhouse, a prominent feature in the district.

On the opposite end of the block where the Petty Building stands are
three buildings scheduled for demolition. In their place a local bank
is proposing to construct a new building utilizing the sandstone blocks
of those structures destroyed in order to protect the integrity of the
district.

DESCRIPTION OF PRINCIPAL BUILDINGS

The Evans Hotel - River Street. The most important building on
River Street is the Evans Hotel, now the Century House. Built in 1892,
its design was purportedly an imitation of the King David Hotel in Je-
rusalem. It was the creation of Hot Springs' biggest promoter, Fred T.
Evans. Five stories high and containing 250 rooms, the Evans Hotel was
complete with electric 1ights and elevator when it opened two years af-
ter its wooden predecessor burned to the ground. The crenellated tow-
ers and semi-circular arches suggest a romanesque origin, but a Victor-
ian influence is evident in the Classic veranda and wrought-iron bal-
conies, both prominent features. The Hotel stands at the foot of Min-
nekahta Avenue at the curve in River Street. It must be considered
the primary focal point of the Hot Springs district.

The Minnekahta Block. The Minnekahta Block, immediately north of
the Century House, began as one of Fred Evans' enterprises, but was fin-
ished by another Hot Springs businessman. A romanesque commercial build-
ing much in the spirit of its larger neighbor, the Minnekahta Block is
three stories high with flat-linteled windows on all but the third floor.
Centered by a Palladian opening, the structure's upper floor is decorated
with a dentilated cornice and small sandstone balustrade. Spherical pro-
jections top corners and towers on the building's southern fagade. On
the northwest pavilion are two double-pitched decorative projections con-
tribution to the structure's picturesque character. It is constructed
totally of local sandstone. The present owner has filled in windows
and added a large sign which distracts from its integrity.
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_The Petty Building - Chicago Avenue. One of the oldest sandstone
commercial buildings in the district stands at its southeastern edge.
The Petty Building, first built in 1889, burned and was reconstructed
four years later. Joseph Petty must have been proud of its columned
arches, handsome cornice and carvings. Certainly the bust above the
door with its spray of acanthus leaves was the finest and most unusual
of the city's decorations.

The Shann Building - Chicago Avenue. Across the street from the
Petty Building in what is now the Wagon Wheel Lounge, is the oldest
sandstone store in Hot Springs. Completed in August of 1890, it served
as a butcher shop for a number of years. Today a coat of stucco mars
the first floor, but above it a roundheaded triumvirate of windows and
their hand-carved spring lines remain untouched.

Union Depot - River Street. The Union Depot, one of two in the
original district and the only depot left standing is located at the
upper end of River Street. It measures roughly fifty feet by twenty
feet. Because the depot is the only building on the west side of the
highway, it adds a special atmosphere of massiveness to nearby sand-
stone structures which is missed in more open areas. Essentially of
single-story construction but boasting a central tower, the depot is
typical of romanesque railroad buildings. It, too, was contracted by
Fred T. Evans in 1891.

Fall River County Courthouse - River Street. Built in 1891 follow-
ing the separation of Custer County into two political subdivisions, the
county courthouse became part of early Hot Springs' building boom. A
three-and-one-half-story sandstone structure of romanesque design, the
courthouse still serves as a county office building. The arched main
entrance is centered in a rectangular pavilion rising to a square tower
above the roof. The tower, once topped by a peaked wooden crown displays
four Roman arches complete with columns as window surrounds. A large
dentilated cornice circles the building. Corner towers and central pavil-
jons. employing stepped gables and windows with flat lintels suggest an
attempt to design the building in the Richardsonian tradition. Altera-
tions include the removal of the Tower roof mentioned above and the fil-
ling in of many windows. Also, half of the front steps were removed.

Battle Mountain Sanatorium. Healing waters and mild climate at-
tracted more than tourists to Hot Springs. In 1902, Congress approved
the construction of a Veteran's Home on Battle Mountain above North Riv-
er Street. Completed in 1907, the Sanatorium became the town's most
impressive architectural showpiece. The main buildings is wheel-shaped,
its spokes connected by an enclosed ambulatory 780 feet in diameter.
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The main building is four stories high and topped by a dome reminiscent

of Byzantine cathedrals. This influence is also apparent in the build-
ing's cross-shaped plan, tiled roof and the vertical effect of the two
towers bracketing the central dome. Above the main entrance's round

arch is a Greek cross, a theme repeated in iron work inside the sanator-
ium's carved wooden doors. A smaller copy of the main section stands at the
opposite end of the complex.

Six three-storied extensions radiate out from the central court. Each
has a porch on the west side to catch the afternoon sun. Vooden members
are prominent features. Sun porches and the tile roofs are supported by
large, unadorned wooden beams. Rafters are exposed wherever possible.
Openings are either roundheaded or flat with the latter predominant.

Twin arches encase a pair of windows on the villa-like towers at the front
fagade. An anterior arcade on the main section and the circular ambula-
tory employ round arches. Sandstone, rough cut and reqularly coursed, is
the principal building material. Its rich texture is a pleasant contrast
to the plain, institutional interior.

The grounds include a number of sandstone buildings including the hos-
pital southeast of the main complex. A large, three-story Elizabethan
structure, the hospital has several additions, but none detract signif-
icantly from the district's Late Victorian character. The same holds
true for other smaller buildings near the sanatorium. To the south are
several dormitories for the staff. These are large, two-story frame
buildings designed in keeping with Mediterranean flavor of the sanator-
ium itself. Here again, timbers are exposed and unadorned and plans are
simple rectangles or squares. All of these homes have hipped roofs.
Only the superintendent's residence deviates from the norm with its
half-timbered central gable and Classic porch.

Marlou Building - River Street. A two-story, sandstone, romanesque
commercial building bearing segments of the builders' names (Hargens and
Loudenbak) on a central plaque. Pointed dentils in the cornice, large
keystones and a checkerboarded string course are its examples of the
stonemason's craft. It was constructed in 1893.

Wesleyan Lakota Chapel (Morris Grand Theatre). One of the few Clas-
sic buildings in the district, the chapel is a smooth sandstone block
structure consisting of a large central arch below a huge cornice. Pil-
asters provided balance to the corners while a carved medallion sets off
the roof line. The Morris Grand opened in 1911.

Hot Springs Public School - Chicago Avenue. Standing atop the
southern edge of Battle Mountain, the schoolhouse commands the entire
district and is visible from nearly all of it. A large Richardsonian

GPO 921.724
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romanesque building of local sandstone, the old schoolhouse now serves

as the Fall River County Historical Museum. It is three stories high,
perfectly square and balanced on two sides by central pavilions. East
and west entrances are set in large narrow porticoes and surrounded by
Roman arches and twin engaged columns, Stepped gables, one above the
entrances and two on the north and south fagades have two similar gables
on a small scale. All are decorated with carved, acorn-shaped finials.

A large single chimney rises above the building's northern half. Decora-
tions include carved oak leaves on spring line mouldings, on newel posts
and at the apex of the large gables. The plain cornice rests on a check-
erboarded string course. Windows are generally flat-linteled and set in
a series of three. This theme is repeated in the arched windows of the
large gables.

City Hall - River Street. Built of native sandstone in 1893, the
City Hall has a Targe dentilated cornice topped by decorative finials
Jjoined by a stone transom. The five second-story windows are roundheaded
and paired on each half of the front fagade. The remaining window is
larger and centered above the opening. Each window has a large, wedge-
shaped keystone. A drip moulding connects the second story openings
while those on the ground floor are either connected or stand singly. To
the left is a large, arched opening originally built to accommodate a
fire team, but altered for modern trucks in the 1930s. The doorway is
also roundheaded and framed by pilasters and a molded entablature. The
pilasters extend to the roof, but between the central window and the en-
tablature is a checker-work rectangle.

The Evans House - Summit Road. A large rambling Queen Anne with a
round, conical-roofed tower, the Evans house was probably built in the
1890s. 1Its Classical porch uses "cushion" capitals and round columns.
The house is now stuccoed, but it is unknown whether or not this mater-
ial is original.

Hargen's Sanatorium - Almond Street. This building is a large, two-
story frame structure with a third story within the confines of a mansard
roof. Four dormer windows with medium-peaked roofs appear on each side.
Around the south side is a porch and balcony with simply-moulded Victor-
ian porch posts. A smaller structure attached to the rear is essentially
a cube with a hipped roof. The sanatorium was built in 1900.

The Sioux City Club - Almond Street. Fred Evans built this unusual
wooden frame structure to accommodate his friends from Sioux City who
came to visit. It operated for several years as a gambling casino. Now
it serves as a private residence. The club is rectangular in plan and
one and one-half stories high. Porches flank the long sides. A

GPO 921.724
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pedimented portico introduces the front entrance. The most unusual
feature is a large octagonal tower rising out of the center of the
roof. Half a story high without its peaked roof, the tower provided
an excellent view of the city during a moment away from the tables.

Villa Theresa. This Spanish revival home was built by a wealthy
Frenchman for his wife in 1916. Its towers and stuccoed walls are vis-
ible from much of River Street.

Tipperary - 245 Dakota Street. This story-and-one-half house with
its picturesque veranda, square center cupola and high octagonal tower
provides an excellent visual terminus for the southern extremity of the
district.

OTHER SIGNIFICANT BUILDINGS

Wilson House - North 17th Street. A large Queen Anne with eclec-
tic “bell tower," built in 1897.

Bentley House - University Avenue. A two-story wooden house of the
1900 period with Jerkenshead roof and Victorian porch. An identical
house is immediately to the west.

Eastman House - 802 Elm Street. A two-story period house surrounded by °
a southern-style, two-story porch on three sides.

St. Luke's Church - Minnekahta Avenue. Built in 1902 of native sand-
stone; small Gothic structure with beautiful interior, stained-glass win-
dows .

Presbyterian Church - Happy Hollow. A small sandstone Gothic built
in 1890; now a private residence.

I00F Building - Chicago Avenue. Built in 1895, it has a brick
facade and decorative’ terra cotta cornice.

Medical Block - River Street. A single-story sandstone building
built in 1912.

Central Block.- River Street. A single-story sandstone commercial
building with corner entrance; built in 1905.

Braun Hotel - River Street. A two-story sandstone building with a
mansard roof; built in 1912.

“Taxi" Building - River Street. A period commercial building built
to accommodate a jog in the street.

Evans Hotel Annex. A three-story sandstone hotel attached to the
Century House; built in 1893,

GPO 9521.724
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City Auditorium - River Street. The only surviving large bath house
(Mammouth PTunge); built in 1907.

There are thirty buildings of high quality or exceptional significance
in the district, seventy structures that are of the historic period and
contribute to the district's atmosphere and thirty buildings that are
neutral to that atmosphere. In addition, thirty-three structures lie
within the district that mildly distract from its desired mood and twenty-
four areas that are considered obvious intrusions.

1Qr/
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

The Hot Springs historic district represents a Black Hills health spa
around 1900. The principal features of the district are a number of ro-
manesque commercial buildings constructed of local sandstone designed by
both professional architects and the stonecutters themselves.

Originally called Minnekahta, the town began when a few squatters set-
tled near the springs in 1879. The earliest residents were members of
the last and most permanent wave of Black Hills immigrants--the farmers
and ranchers. Occupation of the Hills area began in 1876 when the Sioux
Nation ceded the Black Hills to the U.S. Government. Hordes of miners,
traders, businessmen and gamblers came to the Black Hills to make their
fortune. Because most of the activity centered around Deadwood and Lead
in the northern Black Hills, development occurred more slowly to the
south. By 1884, only thirteen buildings existed in Hot Springs. A year
later, however, the railroad came to nearby Buffalo Gap and the river
town began to grow.

People began considering the town's potential and some saw the glint
of gold in its mineral water. Among them were the members of the Dakota
Hot Springs Company. These men were determined to develop the sleepy
cowtown into the biggest health resort west of the Mississippi. Dr. R.D.
Jennings, Mr. E.D. Dudley, A.S. Stewart and Fred T. Evans were experienced
and ambitious entrepreneuers who planned the town's development carefully.
They separated Hot Springs into two sections, upper and lower town. Upper
town was reserved exclusively for the tourists, while Tower town was to
carry on local commercial business. Although there existed a traditional
commercial separation because of geographical reasons, this was the first
official recognition of the fact and it led to a long-standing feud be-
tween the areas.

With the coming of the railroad in 1891, the northern section became
the center of a thriving health spa industry. Large hotels and bath
houses dotted the canyon, most of them built over mineral springs. The
springs were guaranteed to cure every ailment from rheumatism to gout.
The picturesque scenery allowed families to combine cures and vacations.
Besides soaking in the baths, one could picnic in the nearby hills, go
on tours to nearby Cascade Springs or take the stage to Wind Cave twelve
:j}?s to the north. By 1904, the town was the playground of the Black

ills.
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If not the first, Evans was certainly the most imaginative and pro-
lific of the early builders. The large Century House Hotel (original-
1y the Evans), the Minnekahta Block and Union Depot were Evans pro-
jects. So was the water-powered light plant on River Street built in
the '90s. Reflected in these buildings are Evans' knowledge of the
world, his appreciation of variety, artistry and confidence in the

future.
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"Hot Springs is the Carlshad of South Dakota and the prin-
cipal business of its inhabitants is to cater to the wants of
the tourists in search of health or pleasure. The famous hot
springs and mineral waters are found here and baths and sani-
toriums of all kinds have been built for the accommodation of
the public. Hotels in the town are numerous, among which the
Evans has become the best known, and during the tourist season
the town is gay with a stream of people coming and going, who
have Teft their dignity and formalities behind them when they
left their homes. Here are to be seen the old and the young,
athlete and invalid, the staid old fathers and mothers, the
grass widows and gay young beaus, all having a good time."
(Peterson, Historical Atlas of South Dakota, 134)

There were less frivolous reasons for visiting Hot Springs. They are
manifested in a number of hospitals and sanatoriums skirting the canyon
wall. Among them was Dr. Nickol's cancer sanatorium (now the Lutheran
Home), the Hargen Sanatorium, a state soldier's home and, in 1907, a
national veteran's sanatorium. Hot Springs was also a divorce center.

The Tiberal statutes and residence requirements simplified the process and
hundreds came to take advantage of them.

By the end of the next decade, the streams of people belonged to Hot
Springs' history. A more scientific medical profession no longer recom-
mended mineral baths to their patients. Involvement in the "war to end
all wars" left little time for frivolity and state law prohibited "quicky"
divorces. The big hotels closed or eventually burned and were never re-
buiTt. The town adonted a more humble role as trade center for surround-
ing ranches and farms.

But the heritage of a glamorous past remains in the rough-hewn blocks of
sandstone buildings stretching along the Fall River Valley. Between 1890
and 1915, over eighty percent of the River Street and Chicago Avenue build-
ings were erected. This period also saw construction completed on the
State Soldier's Home and Battle Mountain Sanatorium.

Foremost among early Hot Springs contractors was Fred T. Evans. Entre-
preneur, freighter, and talented dreamer, Evans built the most grandiose
and apparently successful of the town's commercial structures. He came
to the Black Hills from Sioux City to make a fortune freighting supplies
and equipment to miners in the northern Black Hills. When the railroads
came and business waned, Evans took his capital to Hot Springs where he is
credited with "discovering" the use of local sandstone for building mater-
ial. This theory is in doubt, however, since the Petty Brothers built a
sand s tone commercial building on Chicago Avenue in 1889, followed a year
Tater by a butcher named Shann who opened a shop in a sandstone store a-
cross the street.
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SPRINGS

Inthe Beautiful Black Hills of South Dakota

ATTRACTIONS
& ENTERTAINMENT

Angostura Recreation Area - 100
Cascade Falls - 102

Cold Brook Dam - 1

Custer State Park - 6

1880's Jail - 29

Evans Plunge - 14

Fall River County Museum - 49
Fall River Lanes - 51

Fall River Waterfall - 34

The Gazebo - 15

Historic Walking Tour - 29

Hot Springs Area Arts Center - 41
Hot Springs Theater - 42

IRAM - Wild Horse Sanctuary - 102
Kidney Spring - 31

Lakota Leather Goods - 6
Larive Lake Resort - 2

The Mammoth Site - 106

Skyline Drive - 8

Southern Hills Golf Course - 108
Trout Haven - 6

Union Depot - 29

Wind Cave National Park - 6

MOTELS

Battle Mountain Motel - 12
Best Western Inn by the River - 30
Bison Motel - 89

Black Hills Motel - 111

Braun Hotel - 19

Dakota Inn - 100

El Rancho Motel - 90

Hide Away Cabins - 83
Historic Log Cabin Court - 9
Larive Lake Resort - 2

Skyline Motel - 11

Super 8 Motel - 104

Villa Theresa Guest House - 22
Wayside Motel - 84

GIFTS & SUPPLIES

All Seasons Clothing - 64

All Seasons Floral & Boutique - 69
Argalene's Gold & Glass - 26
Blessing's Antiques - 39

The Book Stop - 56

Cameo Jewelers - 57

Carol Annie's Gifts - 13
Coast-to-Coast - 71

Community Crafts - 52

Dick & Mary's Video - 97
Donnell's Mini Mall - 33

Evans Plunge - 14

Fall River Floral - 101

Fiatiron Photo/JC Penney - 23
Lakota Leather Goods - 6

Larive Gifts - 24

The Mammoth Site - 106

Merrill West - 65

Minnekahta Mall & Fumiture - 28
Mode O'Day - 45

Pamida - 66

Pioneer Trading - 70

Sears Catalog Store - 81
Southern Hills Golf Pro Shop - 108
Springs Gallery of Fine Art - 54
Stockman's Boot Company - 96
Town & Country Hobby Shop - 86
Video Tec - 92

Video USA - 55

The Video Zone - 40

Village Rock Shop - 79

Wind Cave Concessions - 6

This directory does not include all products
and services available in Hot Springs, only

those frequently requested by visitors.
Boki face type denotes Chamber members

GROCERIES

Amoco Food Shop - 98
Angostura Den - 100

Bison Country Foods - 117
Common Cents - 100

Dakota Mart - 100

Dick & Mary's Super Valu - 97
Seven Eleven - 72

Spring In Mart - 13

SunMart Foods - 87

EATING
ESTABLISHMENTS

A & R Bar & Grill - 100

Bison Barn - 117

Breakers Beach Club - 100
Cal's Cafe - 80

Cascade Restaurant - 105
Country Corner Family Restaurant - 16
Dairy Queen - 91

Dakota Rose - 100

Dick & Mary's Super Valu - 97
Fall River Bakery - 36

The Gazebo - 15

Gene's Du-Drop In - 10
Maverick Restaurant - 100
Pizza Hut - 94

Sandstone Eatery - 63
Springs Restaurant - 19
SunMart Foods - 87

Taco John's - 99

VFW Post 1640 Club - 35
'Wind Cave Concessions - 6
Yogi's Den - 27

CLUBS

American Legion Club - 62
Disabled American Veterans Club - 46
VFW Post 1640 Club - 35

LIQUOR STORE

Party House Liquors - 44

LOUNGES

Angostura Den - 100

The Bar - 38

Breakers Beach Club - 100
Dakota Rose - 100

Maverick Junction Lounge - 100
Rose's Bar - 37

Rotten Ronnie's - 13

Super 8 Lounge - 105

Yogi's Den - 27

CAMPGROUNDS

Angostura Recreation Area - 100
Cold Brook Dam - 1

Cottonwood Dam - 108

Elk Mountain Campground - 6
KOA Campground - 100
Larive Lake Resort - 2

GAS STATIONS

Amoco Food Shop - 98
Angostura Den - 100
Common Cents (Boats only) - 100
Curt's Standard - 60
Dakota Mart - 100
Maverick Truck Stop - 100
Mike's Place - 118

Norton's Sinclair - 115
Seven Eleven - 72
Southside Service - 82
Spring In Mart - 13

LAUNDROMATS

Longacre's Laundromat - 119
Mike's Place - 118

CAR WASHES

Longacre's Laundromat/Car Wash - 119
Southside Service - 82

CAR CARE/PARTS

Chuck's Super Service - 7
Curt's Standard - 60

Fall River Auto - 74

Hills Edge Auto -6

Hot Springs Automotive - 76
Mumer Oldsmobile - 93
NAPA Auto Parts - 47
Norton's Sinclair - 115

R & M Auto & Truck Service - 26
R & S Motors - 110
Schott's Chevrolet - 50

The Shop - 107

Southside Service - 82

HOSPITALS

Castle Manor Nursing Home - 122
Southern Hills General Hospital - 123
Veterans Administration Medical Cnfr - 20

PHARMACY

CITY OF HOT SPRINGS
Airport - 100

Cemetery - 3
Chamber of Commerce - 95
City Hall - 41

Library - 58

Mueller Civic Center - 35

Police Department - 17

Southern Hills Golf Course - 108

PARKS

Brookside Park - 75

Butler Park - 126

Centennial Park - 125
Chautauqua Park - 4
Cold Brook Park - 5

Keith Park - 102

COUNTY, STATE,
U.S. GOVERNMENT

SunMart Pharmacy - 87

CHURCHES

Assembly of God - 116
Baptist, Calvary - 114

Custer State Park - 6

Fall River County Courthouse - 18

Fall River County Sherift - 17

SD State Veterans' Home - 21

U.S. Forest Service - 43

U.S. Post Office - 53

Veterans Administration Medical Cntr - 20

Baptist, First Southern - 102

Catholic, St. Anthony's - 61

Church of Christ - Christian - 85

Church of Christ - Fall River - 95

Church of Jesus Christ of LDS - 112
Episcopal, St. Luke's - 32

Evangelical Free Church - 121

Jehovah's Witnesses - Kingdom Hall - 103
Lutheran, Bethesda - Missouri Syned - 120
Lutheran, Grace - Wisconsin Syned - 109
Lutheran, St. John's - E.L.C.A. - 100

Seventh Day Adventist - 73

United Churches-Interdenominational - 124
Wesleyan, Hot Springs - 113

Wind Cave National Park - 6

NEWS MEDIA

Hot Springs Star - 59
KZMX - 580 AM - 6

FINANCIAL

INSTITUTIONS

Black Hills Federal Credit Union - 78
Community First State Bank - 48

First Federal Savings - 68
First Western Bank - 88
Norwest Bank (ATM) - 67

Message from the Mayor of Hot Springs

WelcometoHot Springs!| We thank you forselecting our community to spendtime in. Whilein our community,
please take ume to visit our several well known atiractions. In addition to the major attractions, Hot Springs has a
host of other activities throughout the summer. You will undoubtedly find the people of our community helpful and
willing to make your stay pleasant. Thanks for coming!

Take a scenic drive through Wind Cave National Park. See buifalo, antelope, elk, deer, and prairie dogs
roam free, or enjoy a tour through one of the world's foremos! caves.

Evans Plunge offers fun and excitement for the whole family. Enjoy the health ciub, or just swim in the 87
degree water. One agmission is good for all day.

Tourone of the newest treasures to be found in the worid, The Mammoth Site. See the remains of mammoths
and other prenistoric animals in their natural burial ground. The Mammoth Site has been designated a National
Natural Landmark by the U.S. Department of the Interior.

Play a round of golf at our award winning Southem Hills Golf Course. This is one of the most challenging
and beautifully groomed golf courses in the country. Carts and equipment are available for rent.

Enjoy a day boating or at the beach at Angostura Reservoir Recreation Area. Boating, water skiing, boat
racing, swimming, sunbathing, picnicking and camping make this a full-service recreation area.

Tour the IRAMHorse Sanctuary. Seewild mustangs running free onlands the Indians found sacred. Shining
rivers, grasslands great rocky canyons, rocks shaped to an art form by water, wind, fire, and time. Here pine forests
fightan endless war with prainegrasses. Wild flowers bioom in profusion. The realm of eagles, praine falcons, deer,
wild turkeys, cougars and coyotes. A watchers's paradise!

Visit Lakota Leather Goods and Stockman's Boot Company where you can watch saddles, boots, or
moccasins being made in the factory. Browse around the Lakota Leather Goods Cowboy & Indian Trading Post,
featuring their own saddies, leather goods, boots and vanous other traditional Cowboy & Indian items.

Take a trip to Custer State Park. Enjoy a drive through one of the finest state parks in America. See buffalo,
deer, and domestic burros all in Custer State Park. A host of hiking, picnicking, and recreational activities are
available. Home of the Black Hills Playhouse.

Take Skyline Drive to the top of Battle Mountain, where the Sioux and Crow Indians fought for possession
of our springs. There is a fire lookout tower near the top. From this vantage point is a spectacular view of the city,
Angostura Reservoir and other states. The road is not accessible by recreational vehicles or after rains.

Visit the Fall River County Museum, an exceptional collection of memorabilia from the area. Avisit 1o the
past that you won't soon forget.

A visit to Cold Brook Dam with its pine trees and red canyon walls will inspire you with its natural beauty.
Fishing, camping, sunbathing, and swimming is available.

Kidney Spring was made available in the early 1890's, when the Evans Hotel was built. [tgained its name
from the medicinal qualities that were attributed to it. The water content is posted at the spring. During all of these
years visitors and local residents have gone to the fountain for a drink, or carried the water away in bottles or jugs.
A recently rebuilt gazebo is located next to the spring.

Fall River originates in Hot Brook Canyon and winds its way through the hear of the city, down colorful Fall
River Canyon, where itempties into the Cheyenne River. This water never freezes, fed from the many warm springs,
and is teeming with watercress, fish, and wild ducks.

The buildings of the Veterans Administration Medical Center are in Old Spanish Mission style in a wagon
wheelarrangement. They are of slightly pinkish sandstone with an unglazed Spanish tile roof. For over three-fourths
of a century this hospital and domiciliary have been the center for giving healing, rehabilitation and hope to disabled
and ill veterans of all wars.

A Historic Walking Tour leaves from in front of the Chamber of Commerce Information Depot. Local guides
will conduct an informative tour of Hot Springs' historic town which is listed on the National Register of Historic
Places. The tour takes approximately 1-1/2 hours. Architectural guides and other visitor information are available
also at the depot.

There are three picnicareas in Chautauqua Park, with many tables and fireplaces. Thisis 2 beautiful shaded
spot for lunching, relaxation and rest. The red rock walls form the background, and the waters from Hot Brook and
the springs cascade and ripple through the grounds. One of many fine city parks.

Cascade Falls and Springs are located twelve miles southwest of Hot Springs. A large stream of clear
sparkling water fairly leaps from the ground. The canyon and hills immediately surrounding the spring and creek
combine to form a most scenic picture. The creek is stocked with trout.

These are some of the examples of the activities that are available in our community. Feel free 1o Inguire with
anyone as to thelocation and other activities ofthese fine attractions. We hope your stay will be safe and memorable
and that you and your friends will return many times.

--Cleland Battista, Mayor
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Phone (605) 677 5241 Education and Cultural RAffairs
May 20, 1974
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Dr. William J. Murtagh i B
Keeper of the National Register WAY. 2 SRis
Mational Register of Historic Places
National Park Service i .
U.S. Department of the Interior : ;}7
18th and C Streets, N. W. X, .

Washington, D. C. 20240 Sl e

Dear Sir:
Enclosed is the revised nomination form for the_Hot

Springs Historic District. I believe the photographs,

maps, and first copy submitted are being held there in
Washington; please substitute this nomination form.

Thank you.

Yours truly,

77
/ ) S J
N man S QC--'/‘—f“—t//k

Irma Burbach, Secretary
Historical Preservation Center

——

The Office of Cultural Preservation of the Department of Education and Cultural Affairs coordinates South Dakota’s
archaeological research, museums, historical preservation and histarical resource in a program designed to preserve our natural
and cultural heritage.
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Vermillion, S.D. 57069 °

Phone (605) 677 5241 Education and Cultural Affairs

June 18, 1974
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Mr. Ray Luth REGISTER /S
National Park Service /5 .
U.S. Department of the Interior T g

18th and C Streets, N. Y.
Washington, D. C. 20240
Dear Ray:

Enclosed please find two supplemental pages for the Hot Springs
District nomination listing the lots included in the desiagnation.

As for the street name you requested in our telephone conversa-

tion of the 13th, the map indicates that Edgemont Street is the
one in question.

Yours truly,

Historical Preservation Center

PP:imb

Enclosure

The Office of Cultural Preservation of the Department of Education and Cultural Affairs coordinates South Dakota’s
archaeological research, museums, historical preservation and historical resource in a program designed to preserve our natural
and cultural heritage.



ENTRIES IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER

STATE m DAKOTA
Date Entered JUN 2 o W
Name Location
Hot Springs Historic District Hot Springe

Pall EKiver County

Hon. George McGovern Also Notified

Hon, Jumes 0. Abourezk State Historie Preservation Officer
Hone Jeames Abdnor v, Juses E., Cillibhan

Megionsl Direetor, Rocky Mountain Culturel Preservation Director

pnw?ﬁott/cm 6/25/7h Department of Education end Culturel
L’“‘ Office of Cultural Preservation
State Capitol
Plerre, South Dakota 57501
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ACTION: NATIONAL REGISTER INFORMATION SYSTEM
Id 74001890 LI 06/25/1974 SD Fall River Hot Springs Historic District
01 More

=
Name Hot Springs Historic District
Address Roughly both sides of River St. from Summit Rd. S to

Baltimore St., including part of Minnekahta Ave.

City Hot Springs Vicinity Restrict
State SOUTH DAKOTA County Fall River
Status LISTED IN THE NATIONAL REGISTER Date 06/25/1974
Day45 Resource Type DISTRICT Acreage -307.5
Multiple
Contributing bldg 1,30 site 0 Strc 0 Obj 0 Total 130
Noncontributing bldg 57 Site 0 Strc 0 Obj 0 Total 57
Park






